- PARISH OF INNERLEITHEN.

PRESBYTERY OF PEEBLES, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN AND TWEEDDALE.

THE REV. JAMES DPATE, MINISTER.
THE REV. PATRICK BOOTIH, ASSISTANT MINISTER.

S

Roundaries— Tuw parish of lunerleithen isof atriangular figure,
the base of which rests on the river Tweed, while the opposite
angle falls on that ridge of mountains which bounds the prospect
from Edinburgh, towards the south, and is well known by the
name of the Morfoot ITills. It here meets the parishes of Iid-
dlestone and Temple, and were lines drawn from this point, to
form.the other two sides, one of these would fall upon the Tweed
to the west, two miles below Peebles, and the other, where it meets
the parish of Stow on the east, five miles above the junction of the
river Ettrick.  The parish contains, according to Armstrong, only
27,587 English acres,

Topagraphical Appearantes.—The group of mountains in this
parish forms part of that ehain which runs from south-west to north-
east, through the pastoral districts of the south of Scotland, until it
sinks into the German sea, near 5t Abb’s Head. The highest sum-
mits of this range are found where Tweeddale and Annandale meet
Selkirkshire,—Hartfell, White Coomb, and Loch Craig, being
2800 feet ubove the sea. The parish 1s intersected by several
deep glens, each traversed by its crystal rivulet, tending towards
the main river. The largest of these rivulets is called Leithen
Water, and gives its name to the parish.  The only level ground in
the parish is the alluvial land along the banks of the river,—which
in Seotland is called holm or Aaugh. This being formed during the
course of centuries, by the overflowings of the river, is of a very
rich soil, though in general more suited for permanent pasture
than for tillage. The same kind of land to a lesser extent may
likewise be found upon the Leithen for three or four miles above
its junction with the Tweed. A narrow border of gravelly loam
likewise skirts the foot of the hills. The valley of the Tweed in
Pecbles-shire, like most of the upland valleys in Secotland, baving

been originally a chain of !-:}chs,athe s0il consists of rounded and
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INNERLEITHEN. 25

water-worn gravel, with the addition of the soil, which in process of
time has fallen from the acelivities above., A great portion of these
slopes has been cultivated, and probably was the first land cultivat-
ed by the aboriginal inhabitants,—what was formerly called erof?
land, being of this description.

Meteorotogy.— The clouds, surcharged with vapour, take thesame
course as the great valley of the Tweed, which here runs from south-
west to north-east; and during summer, many showers that would
be highly favourable to our gravelly soils, and steep hill sides, fall
on the mountains and the heads of the gleus, while there is little
or no rain in the intermediate valley. It is partly from this cause,
and partly from the open nature of the subsoil, that our arableground
suffers so often from drought, that it is commonly said Innerleithen
and Caberstone would require a shower every day. The south-
west winds often blow with great force, and, from a certain point be-
tween west and south-west, the wind has sometimes the violence of
atornado.  There is a hill above the farm of William’s Lea, com-
posed of schistus, where the wind has been known to lift the slaty
fragments, making them clatter fearfully in the air, as they came in
contact with one another; and once, it is said, during a snow storm, a
guantity of stones, some nearly half a ton in weight, were found
seattered and dispersed over a space of a quarter of a mile. If
this report be true, the phenomenon was probably the result of elee~
trical agency.

Experience has shewn that rain may be expected, of longer or
shorter continuance, about the 20th of June, the second week of
August, and the middie of October. There is generally about ten
days of dry fine weather in February, and ten days of cold dry east
wind in the month of May. On the last two days of May, or the first
two of June, it has been observed that there is either a gale of wind
or frost.  Three years out of four there is a severe frost, so late as
greatly to hurt the apple blossom, and the more tender sorts of
stone-fruit. In some seasons, however, and in favourable situations,
peaches come to a good flavour on open walls.

From the nature of the climate, it may be inferred, that in some
seasons there are violent snow-storms. It has been well ascertain-
ed, that the power a flock of sheep possesses of suffering hunger
when the ground is covered with snow depends greatly upon their
pasture in the preceding autumn, or more immediately upon the fat
and tallow they may happen to carry at the time, the tallow and
superabundant fat being absorbed by hunger, and appearing to serve
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26 PEEBLES-SITIRI.

the same purpose to the sheep, in enabling them to bear the famine of
a snowy winter, as the hump upon the back does to the camel, in
empowering him to survive the still greater privations of the desert.

Diseases.—On this head it may only be remarked, that, about
sixty or seventy years ago, ague or intermittent fever was, during
the easterly winds of spring, very common in habitations that were
situated near the level of the haughs, along the river to the east-
ward of the Leithen ; but, from a cause not satisfactorily ascertain-
ed, 1t 18 now unknown.

Hydrography—Springs.~—'The mineral spring at Innerleithen has
become of late years greatly frequented. It was formerly called the
ﬂmu-wcﬂ, from the f_'{ri:mn:_am;rtc{:, ﬂlzﬂ, hm{__r before the I]f::liing virtues
of the water were discoverad, pigeons from the neighbouring coun-
try resorted to it. Had it been known in ancient times as a medi-
cinal water, without doubt the Roman Catholic clergy would have
taken advantage of the fact, and dedicated it to some saint.

The well springs from the base of the Lee-pen, and is about 200
feet above the street of the village. The mountain appears to be
composed of greywacke, clay-slate, and red felspar-porphyry. Ori-
girmll_v the water issued at one r'»E:Lr'l-n;;‘, and that 1n no greal flll:ml.i-
ty. The ground about it was wet and nury, and on one side only
there was a form or long bench, which was used by the aged and in-
firm, who resorted to the hill. Its celebrity, however, increased,
and a few years ago, Lord Traquair, the proprietor of the village,
erected a neat and commodious bulding at the mineral spring, wiith
a verandah in front, from which the water is served out to the visitors.

In digging for the source of the spring (that the water might be
abtained as free as possible from any connection with the surface, )
it was found to branch into two streams of different strength.  These
were analysed i 1822 by IDr Fyfe, and a quart bottle of each was
found to contain the following ingredients: 1st stream, 36 grains,
viz. carbonate of magnesia, 5.3 ; muriate of lime, 9.5; muriate of
soda, 21.2 = 36.—2d stream, 60.6 grains, viz. carbonate of mag-
nesia, 10.2; muriate of hme 19.4; muriate of soda, 31. = 60.6.
The large quantity of carbonate of magnesia (seven parts in 10,000 of
water,) renders it probable that it must contain a quantity of car-
bonic acid sufficient to constitute an acidulous spring, in order
to he nuImhlc of holding the earth in solution. These waters,
which have now rendered Innerleithen a place of fashionable re-
sort, have long been celebrated for the cure of old wounds, dis-
eases of the eyes, and for relieving stomach and bilious complaints ;
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though these eflects are no doubt partly attributable to the pure
air and dry elimate of the situation.

There is another well known spring in this parish, which proba-
bly was famous long before that of Innerleithen was even known,
It is situated among the hills near the boundary of Mid-Lothian,
Before roads were made through the interior of the country, the
ancient road from Ettrick forest, Eskdale, and Teviotdale, towards
Eiiillbllrgh, was carried H the I.J(‘-."lthen, ﬂlltt‘l‘illg the puri.uh of
Heriot moor, by a deep and narrow defile calked the Dewar-Gill,
The spring now referred to bursts from the foot of the mountain,
and affords a supply of the purest water in extraordinary prefusion.

As there are few bogs * along the foot of our hills to serve as
reservoirs Tor the rain, the water of our rivulets is of the most trans-
parent purity.

Geology.— The great range of mountains formerly alluded to,
of which Innerleithen forms a part, belongs to the greywacke for-
mation. The stratn, which are of greywuacke, greywache-slate, and
elay-state, range from S. W, to N. E., or nearly so. The dip is
at various angles,  Red and grey porphyries accompany the grey-
wacke. They are of great thickness in some places; and these at-
tending rocks are found in different places, all the way from about
a mile west of the village to Hollylee, four miles to the eastward.

At Grieston, on the Traquair side of the Tweed, where a slate-
quarry has been long wrought, beautiful red porphyry is found
resting upon the slate. The mountain of Windlestrae-Law is cut
by a glen on its south face called Priesthope, and the rock is laid
bare for a considerable way. Here alternating strata of red and
grey porphyry, gneiss, and granite, and flinty slate, are observed.
The grey porphyry is of a beautiful pure colour, mixed with many
crystals of ﬁ.*i:-']ml'., and of great hardness. The red porphyry isof
ail shades, from a brownish-yellow to a dark blood-red. The latter
has often been sent to Edinburgh for curling-stones, as it is both
extremely hard, and does not splinter, and takes a very fine polish.

(Juerns, or ancient hand=mills, have been found; and one, or

* Ty this word is meant those tracts of moist clay and peaty soil formerly covered
with Carices sl Juncue articalutug, that skivt the green hills of Dumfries and Selkirk-
shires, and which, before they were begun to be drained with care and attention, re-
tained the rain water, and from which it gradually flowed into the burns and rivalets,

supplying them with water, holding in solution muech decayed animal and vege-
talde watter.  The draining of these bogs has neither bencfited the sheep nor the
snlinen fishery.

+ This stratified granite iz mentioned by 'rofessor Dlayfair in his Hlustrations of
Fluiton, as having been found by Sir James Hall and himself’ in Fasnet water, in the
citstern declivity of the Lammoermoor ridge ; and he nientions alse that it was found
at Loch-Ken in Galloway,  Windlestrac-Law lies in the direction of the sirata he-
Pween these twis !;.'I;[f{\-_mi._._"l.'iilr ,.F:'rﬁuf.l;n'gfl ,f:;.l.'l"_-l‘!lf!r Article Setkirkalire.
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28 PELEBLES-SIIRE.

the remains of one, may still be seen in the neighbourhood, made
of Aberdeen granite. Whether this may indicate that the Aber-
donians of ancient times made a trade and profit of the stones on
their moors, as at prasent, or whether 1t had been left by some re-
treating army, it is not easy to determine. It appears that the
upper stone of these simple corn-mills, whieh was turned by a
wooden peg in a hole near the edge, was always formed of rough
mica-slate.

A quarry of large and thick slate, which was dressed for pave-
ment, was once wrought at Hollvlee ; but the partienlar sort that
was In domand, instead of ristig with the acelivity of the hill, sunk
downwards, so that it became unpossible to work it, unless by ac-
tuad munng, It was long, therefore, abandoned ; but of late the
present proprietor has, with admirable effeet, used it again, along
with Arbroath stone, in making tessellated pavement for the lobby
and principal passages in his house,

A quarry of clay-slate for roofing was likewise wrought for many
vears below Thornylee, at the eastern boundary of the parish, but
the workings were too near the river, so that there was a want of
room for disposing of the tirring and refuse.  Both slates and
Hags were moreover of infertor quality for pavement,

The mixture of gravel, not much wator-worn, with ferruginous
clay, which is ealled till, and is found over all the country, but ne-
ver above the most recent alluvial deposits, was hardly to have been
expected in the valley of the Tweed, where it is nearly a mile in
width.  But in driving the lurge beams that support the wooden
bridge lately crected below Traquair house, so much opposition
was met with from impenetrable matter, as to induce the belief
that at no greater depth than six feet there was a bed of till.

There is a large accumulation of small rounded gravel and fine
sand at the foot of the hill, called the Curlee.  Some yoars ago i
sand-pit was dug in it for the purpose of butlding and plastering.
The sand appeared to have been deposited in layers, generally dis-
tinctly mmarked, and having an irregular waving appearance, as sand
often has when left by the ebbing of an eddy tide upon a bheach.
Among the various strata, there was one consisting of the debris of
coal. Taken altogether it distinctly indicates the agency of a
large and deep body of water flowing with a current down the val-
ley of the Tweed, and probably meeting with another lowing down
the valley of the Leithen, But there is no coal in the course of
either.  This coal-gravel, therefore, could have been brought by

L)
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the waters of neither of these rivers.  In Lothian the coal lies deep,
and does not appear in the banks of the rivers. In Clydesdale it
often erops out, and the small fragments we speak of resemble
more what is met with in the western district.

Pecat of a sufficient depth to be dug for fuel is found in great
abundance around the sources of the Leithen, and in small extent
on the top and southern declivities of Windlestrae-Law, which rises
to the eastward of it ; but it is so distant from the village and the
farm-houses along the T'weed, that they find coal, although brought
twenty miles from Lothian, to be greatly cheaper.

The tops of the higher mountains are covered with moss or
peat of greater or less depth, Ou the ridges below the sum-
mits, its depth is often only a few inches, and of course it is less
wet. On this there are tracts covered by Nardus stricta, Juncus
squarrosus, and Galivm saxatile.  On the south-cast side of Wind-
lestrae-Law, among blocks of red porphyry, these plants are sin-
gularly luxuriant, and they are mixed with a species of Agrostis and
Anthoranthum. Every part of the latter plant is likewise greatly
larger than on the banks of the river 1800 feet below. These
plants always indicate the mossy soil on which they grow to be
mixed with sand. Here it is probably derived from the porphyry.

Roology.—In the year 1830, on the glen heads below the tract
of sheep-pasture, we have noticed the larva of a species of the large
long-legged Tipula devouring the herbage upon the hill sides, cut-
ting the plants above the roots, and just before they assume the
green colour.  The swaird adhering together by the intermingled
mosses conld have been rolled up like blanket. ¥

IT.—Chvin Histony.
Fand-viwsers.— The land-owners in the order of the valuation

of their properties are as follows:

Sir Jamea (7. Suttic, - - - L.2375 7 &
Jaumes Ballaontyne, Hollylee, - - 1300 0 o
Thoimnax Iorsburgh of Hlorsburgh, - - 1252 7 10
Earl of Traquair, - - - - o1 16 2
R. N. Campbell of Kaillzie, - - H3G 8 10
Biiss Tnnes of Thorniles, = - - 467 16 8
Willinm Stewart of CGlen Ovmistone, - 244 1 5
William Eckfurd, Green Head of Innerleithen, 92 0 0

L.7298 18 4

* We have been assured from good authority, that, in the year 1762, the green
hills around the hends of Ettrick and Yarrow were rendered completely brown by
the ravages of a smooth light brown eaterpillar with dull yellow stripes; and that
forty years after, in 1802, a similar visitation took place. In that year countless
flocks of crows and sea-fowl were seen for many days hastening to the banguet.
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S0 PEEBLES-SHIRE,

Parochial Registers.— The registers of the parish have been pre-
served, and are legible from the year 16G0.

Antiquities.—~"The names of rivers and mountains, of slopes,
burns, cleughs, and tower steads, in this parish are allowed to show
that the inhabitants whom the present Gothic race drove out, spoke
a dialect of the Celtic language, intermediate between that of the
North Iighlands and the Welsh, and that their successors retain-
ed many of their names of remarkable objects. ®

Porras-hill, or Purves-hill, 15 a farm-steading placed on a rising
aground, where a number of remarkable terraces descend to near
the level of the river, about 200 yards long. The present road
occupies the line of the lowest but one of these ; three rise above
it, all about eighteen feet broad. There is then a larger interval
between the terraces, as if the upper series of them had been m-
tended to be separated from the lower, but this space is not regu-
lar, for it is much wider at the one end than the other. Above
this there are other three terraces approaching towards the brow
of the declivity on which they have been formed, but none of them
so parallel as those below. We abstain from offering any conjec-
ture as to the purposes of these works.

Modern Buildings.— Several new houses have lately been bult
in the village for the accommodation of those who resort to the
place for the benefit of the waters. The mansion-houses most
worthy of notice in the parish are those of Mr Stewart of Glen
Ormistone, and Mr Ballantyne of Hollylee. A beautiful wooden
bridge was some time ago erected under the superintendence, and
according to a plan, of Mr Jardine civil-engineer. It displays
much scientific art in the design and execution.

1iL—Porvrarion.

There are no documents by which we could form any estimate
of the population before Dr Wehster’s report in 1755, The ear-
liest parish registers give merely an account of marriages, and pro-
bably only a part of these.

The population in 1755, according to Iy Webster, was 559
By the last Statistical Account, - - - S
In 1801, - - - - TR

Takl, - - - - GIT

1821, - - - TG

13, - - - - Blg

The increasing celebrity of the mineral spring may account for
the progressive increase of the population ; and this might be sup-
posed to be the -chief cause, had not the inerease in the village been

* Notices of several hill-forts, and towers, e, e the parish will he found in the
ariginal MS,
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INNERLEITIHIEN. . J1

only 59, while in the country it has been 141, The temporary
ladgers in the village during summer are of course not included in
the above state of the population. We are unable to assign any
satisfactory reason for the increase,—the manufactory in the parish
having employed more hands when the last account was written than
it does at present, and the quantity of land in tillage being more
now than it was then,

The number of persons residing in the village at this time, not
including summer lodgers, is 447 ; in the country, 363.

It is important to add, that the number of lodgers in the village
for the benefit of the watersin the course of the summer 1832 was

no less than 1438,

}. Number of families in the parish, - - - - - 160
of families chiefly employed in agriculture, - - - 59

in trade, manufictures, or handierafl, 33

other fmilics, - - 58

2. The average number of births yearly for the last seven years, - - 10
of deaths, - - - . - 7

of marriages, - - - - a

4. ‘The number of persons at present under 15 years of age, - - 346
upwards of T, - - - 24

"There are three gentlemen, all of moderate fortune, resident in
the parish, and on their own lands.

The number of proprietors of land is 8; and the property of only
one of these is below L. 50 a-year.

Amusements of the People— The people in this parish have been
always much addicted to athletic exercises and games, which have
probably been much encouraged by the dry soil and the climate,
and by the beautiful village green. The latter, though considered
as the common property of the village, has been appropriated, feued,
and built upon. The fondness of the young men of the village for
the sports of the place attracted the attention of the visitors, and
induced them often to participate. The gay loungers at the water-
ing-place came habitually to take an interest in the games; and in
1827 forty-two noblemen, knights, and gentlemen joined in insti-
tuting an annual competition for prizes in all gymnastic exercises ;
an annual sum being subseribed for defraying the expenses, The
records of the St Ronan’s Club (as it is called) show that the young
men of the village have carried off their share at least of the honours
awarded.

IV.—InpusTry.

Agriculture and Rural Economy.— The extent of land that bears

the marks of having been occasionally in tillage may be fully 2400
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3y FEEBLES-=HIRE.

acres. 1et, if we except two farms that have almost wholly been
brought into regular eultivation within the last ten or fifteen years,
there is not such a thing as an arable farm in the parish. They
are all sheep-farms, with arable land attached to them. Thirty
Years ago, when they were let on lease, nuthillg was said about the
value per acre: it was the sheep which the farm could contain that
were valued, The number of acres which remain constantly i
sheep-pasture is 25,700. The number of acres that are at present
uninclosed sheep-pasture, and that might be cultivated, may per-
haps amount to 1500, or somewhat more; but whether any thing
like this extent could, with a profitable application of capital, be
added to the eunltivated land, may be reasonably doubted. There
are about 500 acres of pl:mtﬂ-d wood ; and probably 30 acres of
hrushwood, consisting of hazel and birch chiefly, intermixed with
dwarfish specimens of the trees and shrubs enumerated as indige-
nous. The trees generally planted now are larch, oak, ash, and elm.

Rent of Land.—- As the arable land in the parish is never let by
the acre, the value of it is a somewhat difficult matter to settie.
We are inclined to state the average rent at 23s. per acre, and the
produce at L. 8, 95, 6d.  The average rent of the sheep-pasture
is nearly 2s. 7]d. per acre; the average produce 4s. 8d,

As the sheep-pasture has sometimes no arable ground attached
to it, the value is more casily determined; the average of the un-
cultivated land is nearly 4s. 3d. per sheep’s grass; on cultivated
Jand 9s.; and an ox or cow L., 10s,

Rate of Wages.—The wages of labour of a man throughout the
year is 1s, 8d. per day; and of a woman for hoeing turnips, hay-
making, and barn-work in winter, 10d.

Breeds of Live Stock.— The old breed of cattle in Tweeddale
was light-bodied and long-legged, with rather long up-turned horns,
and spotted brown, black, or white. About forty or fifty years ago
this breed was greatly improved by the produce of an Alderney bull
and two queys, that were brought into the country by the late farl
of I'raquair. Of late years, well-bred bulls from Northwmnberland
are annually procured by some of the principal farmers; und con-
EEl‘llIL’I‘lH_‘I’, .:i.umring for the bareness of our pasture, the breed of
cattle is every year drawing nearer to that of the shires of Selkirk
and Roxburgh, and perhaps might be in some risk of becoming in
general too heavy for the district.

The breed of sheep is the black-faced and Cheviot, both greatly
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INNERLEITHEN. 33

mproved of late, excepting in the quality of the wool,* which is
now much coarser.

It may be added, that the breeds of sheep, cattle, and horses
have received great benefit from the Selkirkshire Pastoral Society,
instituted by Lord Napier about ten years ago, and of which our
resident proprietors and principal farmers are members.

Quantity of Live Stock.—The number of cattle is 383 ; horses
80 ; sheep, 16,040 ; goats, H0.

ffusbamfry.———-Thc state of farm-buildingsand enclosures is good;
and perhaps the extent of the former is greater than has ever yet
been found quite necessary. Leases are of all sorts, according to
the pleasure of the parties.

Tmprovements.— The only great improvement in the parish has
been effected by Mr Stewart of Ormiston, or Glen-Ormiston. By
the most excellent system of cultivation, he has raised the value of
his property, so that the annual return or rent in pounds Sterling
is much more than double the valuation in pounds Scottish; and
that without including the annual value of more than 200 acres in
very thriving plantations,—a. fact very rarely paralieled in the re-
cords of the agriculture of this country.

Prroduce,
The average mmount of gross prm."luee yearly raised from the arable land may be
nearly - - - - L8438 0 0

The average return of grain ¢rops bemgm wheat, 26 bushels per im.
perial acre ; barley, 36 do.; vats, 36 do. ; pease, 24 do.
From sheep, - - - - - G215 0 o

L. 14,653 0 o
‘The value of the produce of cattle and horses s included, as pas-
ture, turnips, hay; and those are all valued per acre,
Manufactures.— A large building for a weollen manufactory was
erected about forty years ago by a Mr Brodie, a native of Traquair.
He carried on the works at his own risk for several years. At his
death the manufactory was let, and has since been in the hands of
several tenants. At present 50 people are employed in it, and
2500 stones of wool are wrought in it yearly. The people work
ten hours a-day. Weavers are paid perweek, 14s.; slubbers, 14s. ;
piecers, 3s.; shawl-plaiters, 4s.
V.—ParocHiarL EcoNomy,
Moarket-Town and Means of Communication.—Peebles is the

% It scems now to be fully ascertained that fine wool eannot be raised in this
country with profit—fiat mutton and fine wool in successive generations of sheep ap-
pearing to be incompatible with each other by some law of nature.
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34 PEEBLES-SHIRE.

nearest market=-town, and 1s distant about six miles, In the summer
season there is a one-horse chaise daily, and tweo daily coaches
from the parish to Edinburgh,

The length of the toll-road down the Tweed is ten miles ; and
from T'weed to the source of the Leithen, is above nine miles. In
summer, there is a daily conveyance to and from Glasgow and Kelso,
which passes through the village.

Feclestastical State.—"The church could not well be better si-
tuate for the convenience of the whole parish. It s a neat small
building, containing seats for above 350 people. It was built in
1786, and 1s in comfertable repair. The manse was bwlt about
1780. The glebe consists of 12 imperial aeres, and is worth about
L. 20 of yearly rent. The stipend is 15 chalders, half meal and
half barley, and L, 100 Scots for communion elements, having been
augmented in the yvear 1821.* [is average mmount for the last
seven years has been, exclusive of the allowance for communion
elements, 1. 234, 6s. The average number of communicants is
about 2064.

The dissenters in this parish are very few: fewer perhaps than
in any parish of the same size in this part of the country.

FLiducation.—"There is no school but one in the parish. It is
parochial. The schoolmaster employs an assistant, and tecaches
the ordinary branches and Latin. Ilis salary is the maximum. The
school wages are, for reading English, per quarter, 2s, 6d.; for writ-
ing, arithmetie, &e. 3s. 6d. ; for Latin, 55: but the actual amount
received will probably not exceed L. 40. There are no persons in
the parish above ten years of age who cannot read and write.

Lilrary.—There is a circulating library in the parish, and a
reading-room attached to it.

Friendly Society.— A friendly society was instituted in 1808 by
the influence of the late Mr Nicol, minister of Traquair, and on
such sound principles, that its funds have been gradually increas-
ing. There are 100 members.

Poor and Parochial Funds,— The collections in the church ave-
rage about L. 21, 10s. a-year, and the assessment upon the heri-
tors and tenants amounts to about L. 80. The number of poor
is 13, and the average allowance to each 2s. 2d. per week, besides
house rent to several of them, and L. 5 for medical advice. The
people have not now the same aversion as formerly to seek relief

from those funds,

® The stipend was augmented in 1521 ; but unexpectedly not in the same ratio
as that of the minister of Traquair,—which was sugmented abuut the same time.
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Inns.— There are three inns in the village ; two of them la
and commodious,—each having an ordinary or public table during
the spring and summer seasons.

Fuel.—Except among the shepherds living in the heads of the
hopes and glens, who use peats, the fuel chiefly depended upon by
the inhabitants is coal from Lothian. The nearest is 16 miles
distant. But a new road up the Leithen is now making, and will
be completed next summer; by which the convevance of coal will
be facilitated, and the expense diminished.

MisceLraneous OBSERVATIONS.

Plantations of spruce and Scottish fir in the uplands, for en-
closures to the sheep, would be a great improvement.

There is no soil in the parish so fitted for becoming rich pas-
ture as the haughs in the valley of the Tweed. But instead of
water-dikes, as they are called, reared sometimes at great expense
along the margin of the stream, perhaps it were better that every
obstruction was removed from the river while in flood, and the
muddy waters encouraged to float over and top-dress these lands
when laid into pasture. Iixperience has often shown, that no pro-
eess of manuring is so cheap and so enriching.  Besides, this would
enable the proprietor or tenant to bestow his attention and manure
upon the accessible slopes of the hills, which, in course of time, it
may be found werth while to cultivate.

March 1834.
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